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Introduction and Acknowledgement 

After successful completion of an archaeological excavation in June 2012, the Camp Douglas 

Restoration Foundation (CDRF) determined that subsequent archaeological investigations 

would be meaningful.  Several sites on the grounds of former Camp Douglas were determined 

to be desirable.  Unfortunately, property owned by the real estate firm of Draper and Kramer 

that could provide important data on the White Oaks, Hospital and Garrison Square sections of 

the property was unavailable. 

Eternal thanks to Dr. Michael Gregory, De Paul University who managed the excavation with 

professionalism, positive leadership, good humor and an appreciation for the educational 

opportunity offered by the location on Pershing East Magnet School (Pershing).  Andrew Leith, 

Field Museum, whose fortuitous volunteering, provided to Dr. Gregory a strong right hand in 

managing the site also deserves special recognition.   

Dr. Dan Joyce, Kenosha Museums, provided not only the ground penetrating radar (GPR) for an 

preliminary survey; but, personally conducted and published the results of the survey.  His 

interest and enthusiasm was instrumental in the success of the project.   Lynn Crivello, Liza 

Balistreri, and John Price of the Chicago Public Schools main office and Dr. Safurat Giwa 

incoming Principal and Dr. Cheryl Watkins outgoing Principal of Pershing all cooperated to make 

the project a success.  Dr. Nancy Jackson, Prologue Schools, owner of the Griffin Funeral Home 

property not only participated in the excavation but, provided positive leadership in involving 

the schools in the excavation. 

With the approval of the Abraham Lincoln Bicentennial Foundation, funds remaining from the 

grant provided for the 2012 excavation were used to finance the current project.  Clark Roofing 

of Broadview Illinois, again, provided necessary equipment, supplies and transportation for the 

project.  Archaeological specific equipment was provided by De Paul University and CDRF. 

With the support of Pershing, CDRF Board members Roy Malone and Dean Rodkin, both 

professional educators, developed and presented a special program for third grade students of 

Pershing.  These students, who study Chicago history as part of their curriculum, were involved 

in a reading and reading comprehension exercise followed by hands on experience at the 

excavation site.  Details of this program are contained in the body of this report.  Their creative 

work deserves special credit.  Also special thanks to CDRF board members, Phil Grinstead, Andy 

Irvine and Bernard Turner for devoting so much of their their valuable time to on-site activities. 

Thanks to the Chicago Fire Department for the use of rest rooms and for watering the sod to 

keep it fresh until the units were closed. 
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In addition to CPS students, Prologue Schools had active participation in the excavation.  

Prologue is an accredited alternate high school for students who are unable to qualify to 

reenter CPS.  CDRF has worked with several of PrologueΩs schools over the year to provide 

information on Camp Douglas and Chicago history.  We have enjoyed working with these fine 

young people. 

Special thanks to Dr. Ted Karamanski, Loyola University for encouraging volunteers from Loyola 

to join the project and for providing guidance and support to CDRF.  Thanks also to Dr. Scott 

Demel for sharing information with Dr. Gregory. 

Extra special thanks go out to the volunteers who participated in the excavation.  Without these 

volunteers, this, or any excavation, would not be possible. The volunteers represented De Paul 

University, Loyola University, Marquette University and other private individuals with an 

interest in archaeology and history. This outstanding team consisted of: MATTHEW ALICZ, 

ANNA ALKOTO, ROMAN ANDRMSHKO, RICK BABCOCK, PAUL BARILE, NICHOLE CONSTANTINE, 

ANGE EKLOU, AYOBAMI EKLOU, CARL GERGITS, MARY GERGITS, CHRISTOPHER GOMEZ, 

CLAUDIA GRABOWSKI, , JACKIE HACKETT, NANCY JACKSON, ELIZABETH KAPLE, DAVID J. KELLER, 

LINDA KELLER, KATLYN KIRBY, ANDRED LEITH, SAMUEL LISEC,  KRISTIE MAYBERRY, ROBIN 

NEUMANN, RHONESHA ROWE, RANDALL SCHULTZ, ELIF SENTURK, BROOK TOLAND, ELISSA 

TSAIS.  

 

David L. Keller 
Managing Director 
Camp Douglas Restoration Foundation 
www.campdouglas.org 
November 11, 2013 

  

http://www.campdouglas.org/
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Camp Douglas Background: 

Camp Douglas was located between 31st Street, 33rd Place, Cottage Grove Ave and Giles Ave on 

the near-south side of Chicago.  The camp operated between 1861 and 1865 receiving and 

training nearly 40,000 Union soldiers, including African American troops.  From 1862 through 

1865 the camp also served as a prison camp housing nearly 30,000 Confederate prisoners 

during that time.  Most of the last prisoners left the camp by July 1865 with the camp 

ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜƭȅ ǊŀȊŜŘ ōȅ 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ мусрΦ  Lƴ ȅŜŀǊǎ ŀŦǘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŎŀƳǇΩǎ ŜȄƛǎǘŜƴŎŜ ƴƻǘƘƛƴƎ ǊŜƳŀƛƴǎ ƻŦ ƛǘǎ 

physical presence.  Little, if any, acknowledgement of the camp exists today.  Yet, Camp 

Douglas was the most significant physical facility in Chicago during the Civil War consisting of 60 

acres of land and over 200 buildings.  66 of the building were barracks housing Confederate 

prisoners when the camp closed. 
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Camp Douglas Restoration Foundation: 

The Foundation was incorporated July 2, 2010 as an Illinois general not-for-profit corporation.  

It is exempt under section 501(c) (3) of the IRS code. 

Vision: 

To be a significant participant in increasing awareness of the Civil War in the Upper Midwest, 

especially Illinois and Chicago. 

Mission: 

To provide active leadership in the development, delivery, and preservation of educational and 

historic information regarding the Upper Midwest, especially Illinois and Chicago during the 

Civil War. 

Values: 

¶ The history of the Civil War is important aspect of American life. 

¶ Providing and maintaining meaningful and accurate information on the Civil War 
in Chicago, Camp Douglas, Illinois, Civil War Prison Camps and the African 
American contribution to the Civil War are important to historic preservation. 

¶ Creating and operating a repository for information, including artifacts, photos, 
letters, journals, and diaries is needed. 

¶ Offering information to educators, historians and other interested persons is 
appropriate to increased awareness and understanding.  

Strategy: 

¶ Develop and maintain facilities on the site of Camp Douglas, Illinois. 
¶ Promote, support and conduct educational and interpretive activities. 
¶ Own and manage facilities, documents and artifacts. 
¶ Solicit and manage funds. 

 

The Foundation is managed by a Board of Directors authorized at ten members with currently 

seven members; all serving with no compensation.  David L. Keller is the non-paid Managing 

Director.  Directors serve for a term of one year.  There are no term limits on director 

appointments. 

Specific information on the FoundationΩs activities can be found on the web site 

www.campdouglas.org.  

http://www.campdouglas.org/
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Background and Planning of the Excavation: 

After the 2012 excavation, CDRF was contacted by Dr. Michael Gregory, Visiting Professor, 

Anthropology, De Paul University, who indicated interest in involvement in any subsequent 

projects.  Dr. Gregory has extensive experience in archaeological excavations throughout the 

United States.  He also has a strong interest in the Civil War.  Dr. Scott Demel, Northern 

Michigan University, and primary archaeologist on the 2012 excavation was contacted about 

participating in future projects.  Dr. Demel indicated interest, subject to his availability.  Dr. 

Gregory had arranged with Dr. Dan Joyce, Director, Kenosha Museums, Kenosha, Wisconsin, to 

conduct ground penetrating radar surveys of potential sites. 

CDRF and Dr. Gregory determined that a noninvasive investigation of the open area of Pershing 

East Magnet School (formerly Pershing West School) 3200 S. Calumet, and the parking lot of the 

closed Griffin Funeral Home, 3220 S. King Drive was appropriate.  Approval from Dr. Nancy 

Jackson, CEO, Prologue Schools, owner of Griffin Funeral home, was immediately provided. 

Contact with Dr. Cheryl Watkins, Principal of Pershing prior to the 2012 excavation had been 

positive; however, approval was required from the CPS main office.  Lack of communications 

and staff changes In the CPS main office made approval of the project difficult.  After a number 

of futile attempts by CDRF to reestablish communications, Dr. Joyce, through his contacts in the 

City of Chicago, outside CPS, was able to make contact with appropriate decision makers.  Lynn 

Crivello, Liza Balistreri, and John Price, CPS maim office, were instrumental in providing 

approval for the investigation and excavation, subject to the approval of the Principal of 

Pershing.  In the interim, Dr. Watkins was replaced by Dr. Safurat Giwa as Principal.  Dr. Giwa 

was very positive and immediately gave her approval. 

Dr. Dan Joyce completed ground penetrating radar (GPR) survey of five survey areas at Pershing 

and the Griffin Funeral Home as shown in Figure 1 on July 28. 

 

Figure 1, Survey areas 
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After discussing the written report with Dr. Gregory and Dr. Joyce, CDRF decided to sponsor an 

excavation in Site 2 of the Joyce report.  This site was selected as a result of the findings from 

the GPR information and a study of the 1912 and 1950 Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps.  The 1912 

map represented the likely first permanent build up on the site and 1950 reflected the 

ŎƻƴŦƛƎǳǊŀǘƛƻƴ ōŜŦƻǊŜ ǳǊōŀƴ ǊŜƴŜǿŀƭ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ мфрлΩǎΦ  ¦ƴƛǘǎ ǘƻ ōŜ ǎŜƭŜŎǘŜŘ ǿƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ƭƻŎŀǘŜŘ 

essentially in the back yards of houses shown on the 1912 map.  It was believed that excavating 

units in this area would give the project the greatest possibility of finding evidence dating to the 

existence of Camp Douglas. 

After a discussion with Dr. Giwa it was agreed by all parties to conduct the excavation after 

school started.  October 25-31, 2013 were the dates selected.  Unfortunately Dr. Demel was 

unable to participate, leaving primary responsibility to Dr. Gregory.  Andrew Leith, 

Archaeologist, Field Museum, was available and volunteered to assist Dr. Gregory. 

Unlike 2012, there was no written agreement between CDRF and CPS.  Terms and conditions 

were contained in an e-mail dated June 3, 2013 from Lynn Crivello, CPS.  CDRF determined that 

ƛǘ ǿŀǎ ƛƴ ŜǾŜǊȅƻƴŜΩǎ ōŜǎǘ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘ ǘƻ ǇǊƻŎŜŜŘ ǿƛǘƘ the excavation with the same protocol used 

in the 2012 project.  To that end, a $1,000,000 Commercial General Liability Insurance policy 

was obtained insuring CDRF and naming CPS as a certificate holder.  All participants were 

required to sign an άExculpatory Agreement and Waiver of Claimέ with CPS and CDRF.  Medical 

evacuation routes, coordination with Chicago Fire Department ambulance service and on-site 

first aid was provided.  There were no incidents reported during the excavation. 

Initially, four units were selected in Section 2 of the GPR survey (see Figure 1).  These units are 

shown in Figure 3 on the following page.  As the excavation continued, it was determined that 

two additional off set units (5 & 6) would be excavated.  Unit 5 was an off set to Unit 4 where a 

wall had been discovered.  It was believed that this was an exterior wall with the interior on the 

side toward the photographer in Figure 2 

 

Figure 2, Unit 4 Exterior wall 
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                                                          Figure 3, Site 2, Units 1 through 6.  Pershing School is directly north of this drawing 

Unit 6 was selected to complement Unit 2 and was estimated to intersect one of the barracks 

buildings and the 25 foot wide street between barracks as seen is the drawing in Figure 4. 

 

Figure 4, Col Potter drawing ca: 1864 
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Conduct of Excavation: 

Set up of the excavation was laid out by Dr. Gregory and David Keller on Thursday, October 24.  

This layout provided for immediate excavation upon the arrival of volunteers on October 25. 

 

Figure 5, Preliminary site layout 

October 25, Andy Irvine, Clark Roofing and Director of CDRF, delivered material and equipment 

to the site at 6:15 am.  A fence was erected and material moved to the initial four units. 

  
Figure 6, Initial layout of site with units inside fencing and headquarters      Figure 7, Initial layout of Unit 4 by M. Gregory              

to the right 

Volunteers arrived at 8:00 am to begin excavation.  Upon arrival volunteers were signed in and 

given a brief overview by CDRF.  They were then given specific instructions by Dr. Gregory and 

assigned to a unit.  When possible, volunteers remained in their assigned unit team for their 

stay at the site.  As work load dictated, Dr. Gregory reassigned volunteers to other units. 

Each day volunteers worked from 8:00 am until 4:00 pm with a lunch break of approximately 45 

minutes.  Water and snacks were provided by CDRF.   Rest room facilities were provided by 

Pershing during school days. Chicago Fire Department Engine 19, Truck 11 and Ambulance 4 

located at 3421 S. Calumet provided rest room facilities on Saturday and Sunday. 
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Figure 8, Chicago Fire Department Support                                       Figure 9, Unit 1 early excavation.  A. Leith, archaeologist on  

       right 

The objective of the excavation was to investigate the entire unit with emphasis on the level of 

Camp Douglas. This level was believed to be the layer of sand that would be found below the 

top soil and fill.  Initial estimates were that that level would be approximately one meter below 

the surface.   Excavation showed that the sand layer however, was only approximately 50 

centimeters below the surface.  At approximately 40 centimeters a layer of gravel fill was found 

in all Units but Unit1. 

     

Figure 10, Unit 3 M. Gregory, in cap, showing gravel line and      Figure 11, Unit 4 showing gravel line- lighter color on wall                           

initial contact with sand, brown color, under Gregory. 

Typical excavation of the site consisted of excavation in 10 centimeter depths, after the 

removal of sod, using hand trowels and other small tools.  All dirt was placed in buckets and 

then screened to uncover any additional artifacts.  Each 10 centimeters was documented, 

mapped, and photographed with artifacts identified in each depth.  While the project was 

interested in artifact found in the upper portion of the units; that is, those in the top soil and 

fill, it was determined to excavate this strata using shovels in 20 centimeter depths and 

screening all dirt removed.  This would expedite arriving at the desired sand level while 
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protecting artifacts.  Any unusual artifacts found in the top soil and fill was properly 

documented and photographed. 

     

Figure 12, Unit 4 Screening                                                                   Figure 13, Units 3 (near) and 4 Screening and excavating  

As excavation got closer to, and into, the sand level work became much more meticulous using 

small tools, including picks and paint brushes. 

          

Figure 14, Unit 3 Marking & documentation of china pieces                      Figure 15, Unit 3 Detailed excavation 

Excavation in soil that was only sand continued for a minimum of 10 centimeters.  If no artifacts 

or human occupancy evidence were found in the 10 centimeter level, excavation was stopped.   

The assumption in this case was that artifacts are not likely to leech below 10 centimeters in 

sand.   


